ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Anderson County

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 14 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

DEREK S. CARTER,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-213168

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Is Petitioner entitled to a vacation of his thirty-year sentence under S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-85 where the statute is unconstitutional under the due process and equal protection clauses of the South Carolina and the United States Constitutions when under its provisions, a defendant whose actions only amount to “aiding and abetting” is subject to vastly different penalties for identical conduct depending solely under which section of the statute the defendant is charged?

- II. Did Petitioner’s plea counsel err in failing to object to Petitioner’s guilty plea under S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-85(A)(1) where the Petitioner’s actions only amounted to “aiding and abetting” under Subsection (A)(2) of § 16-3-85 and Petitioner would have received a maximum sentence of twenty years instead of the thirty year sentence he received under Subsection (A)(1)?

STATEMENT

Indictments

On March 27, 2001, Petitioner Derek Shane Carter was indicted by the Anderson County Grand Jury for great bodily injury upon a child. App. 379-80. On May 1, 2001, Petitioner was subsequently indicted by the Anderson County Grand Jury for homicide by child abuse. App. 377-78.

Plea Hearing

On June 11, 2001, pre-trial motions in the case against Petitioner were heard by the Honorable John Kittredge. App. 1 – 175. Petitioner was represented by Robert E. Treacy, Jr., and the State was represented by Druanne D. White. App. 1.

On June 12, 2001, Petitioner pled guilty to great bodily injury upon a child pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-95. App. 176, ll. 3-5; 179, ll. 12-15. Petitioner also pled guilty to homicide by child abuse under Subsection (A)(1) of § 16-3-85 which provides that a person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if the person “causes the death of a child under the age of eleven while committing child abuse or neglect, and the death occurs under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life.” App. 176, ll. 7-13; 179, ll. 12-15.

By pleading under Subsection (A)(1) instead of (A)(2), which provides that a person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if the person “knowingly aids and abets another person to commit child abuse or neglect, and the child abuse or neglect results in the death of a child under the age of eleven,” Petitioner faced a possible sentence of twenty years to life instead of a sentence of ten years to a maximum term of twenty years. See § 16-3-85(C).

Judge Kittredge sentenced Petitioner to thirty years for homicide by child abuse and for twenty years for great bodily injury upon a child with the sentences to run concurrent. App. 204, ll. 2-11. Petitioner did not file a direct appeal.

First Application for Post-Conviction Relief (2002-CP-04-1791)

On June 3, 2002, Petitioner filed his first application for post-conviction relief (“PCR”). App. 206-12. The State filed its Return on September 17, 2004. App. 213-17. On December 8, 2005, the PCR court dismissed Petitioner’s first PCR application, noting that Petitioner had made a motion to withdraw his PCR application. App. 218.

Second Application for Post-Conviction Relief (2009-CP-04-2033)

On May 15, 2009, Petitioner filed a second PCR application, asserting the unconstitutionality of the homicide by child abuse statute. App. 219-25. Petitioner filed a Memorandum of Law in Support of his PCR application on September 25, 2009. App. 226-56.

The State filed its Return and Motion to Dismiss on April 9, 2010. App. 257-61. Petitioner opposed the State’s Motion to Dismiss on April 21, 2010. App. 262-66. The PCR court initially issued a Conditional Order of Dismissal on May 5, 2010, ruling that “the Court intends to dismiss this Application with prejudice unless the Applicant provides specific reasons, factual or legal, why the Application should not be dismissed in its entirety.” App. 269.

On June 2, 2010, the PCR court ultimately granted Petitioner a post-conviction relief hearing and did not dismiss Petitioner’s second PCR application, finding “sufficient reason exists for the proceedings in this matter to continue.” App. 271-72.

PCR Evidentiary Hearing (2009-CP-03-2033)

An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh on March 8, 2012. App. 321-63. Petitioner was represented by Tommy Thomas, and the State was represented by Kaelon May. App. 321. Petitioner and plea counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing. App. 326-59.

Following the testimony, the PCR court took the constitutional issues under advisement. App. 359-60. After the hearing, both Petitioner and the State submitted briefs to the PCR court regarding the constitutionality of § 16-3-85. App. 364-68; Supp. App. 157-60.

Order of Dismissal

On August 10, 2012, the PCR court denied and dismissed Petitioner's PCR application, ruling that Petitioner had "not established any constitutional violations or deprivations that would require this Court to grant his application for post-conviction relief." App. 369-75.

Petitioner filed a Motion to Alter or Amend on August 24, 2012 to preserve his argument that § 16-3-85 is unconstitutionally vague because the statute does not provide ascertainable standards of guilt to protect against arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement of the statute. Supp. App. 161-62.

The PCR court denied the motion to reconsider on September 17, 2012. Supp. App. 163-64.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

I. Petitioner is entitled to a vacation of his thirty-year sentence under S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-85 because the statute is unconstitutional under the due process and equal protection clauses of the South Carolina and the United States Constitutions where under its provisions, a defendant whose actions only amount to “aiding and abetting” is subject to vastly different penalties for identical conduct depending solely under which section of the statute the defendant is charged.

In a PCR proceeding, a defendant may raise any claims of constitutional violations relating to his conviction. S.C. CODE ANN. § 17-27-20(a); Williams v. Ozmint, 380 S.C. 473, 477, 671 S.E.2d 600, 601 (2008).

In this case, Petitioner asserts that the statute under which he was convicted, S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-85, unconstitutionally violates the due process and equal protection clauses of the South Carolina and the United States Constitutions because under its provisions, a defendant whose actions only amount to “aiding and abetting” is subject to vastly different penalties for identical conduct depending solely under which section the defendant is charged.

The due process clause requires that citizens be afforded fair warnings of proscribed conduct. Rose v. Locke, 423 U.S. 48, 49 (1975). “The concept of vagueness or indefiniteness rests on the constitutional principle that procedural due process requires fair notice and proper standards for adjudication.” Curtis v. State, 345 S.C. 557, 571, 549 S.E.2d 591, 598 (2001).

Under the due process clause, a statute is unconstitutionally vague where either (1) the statute does not define the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary person can understand what conduct is proscribed; or (2) the statute does not provide ascertainable standards of guilt to protect against arbitrary, erratic, or discriminatory

enforcement. City of Chicago v. Morales, 527 U.S. 41, 56 (1999); Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357 (1983).

Under the second prong, a statute is unconstitutional if it invites an inordinate amount of police discretion in determining what conduct proscribes or what conduct complies with a statute in any given case. See City of Spokane v. Douglass, 795 P.2d 693, 697-98 (Wash. 1990); see also Morales, 527 U.S. at 64.

“Sentencing provisions may also violate due process if they do not afford fair notice of the penalty that applies to the forbidden conduct, [and] [a]mbiguities as to the applicable penalty must be resolved in favor of lenity, granting the defendant the benefit of the doubt.” Thomas v. Davis, 192 F.3d 445, 455 (4th Cir. 1999).

The equal protection clause also forbids arbitrary application of the law. For instance, selective enforcement based on unjustifiable standards such as race, religion, or other arbitrary classification is prohibited by equal protection. See Oyler v. Boles, 368 U.S. 448, 456 (1962).

The homicide by child abuse statute, codified under § 16-3-85, under which Petitioner was convicted purportedly provides for two separate ways a person may be guilty of homicide by child abuse.

Under Subsection (A)(1) of § 16-3-85, a person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if the person: “causes the death of a child under the age of eleven while committing child abuse or neglect, and the death occurs under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life.” If a person is found guilty under Subsection (A)(1), the person faces a sentence of a term not less than twenty years up to life in prison. § 16-3-85(C)(1).

Under Subsection (A)(2) of § 16-3-85, a person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if the person: “knowingly aids and abets another person to commit child abuse or neglect, and the child abuse or neglect results in the death of a child under the age of eleven.” If a person is found guilty under Subsection(A)(2), the person faces a sentence of a term not less than ten years up to a maximum term of twenty years. § 16-3-85(C)(2).

At first glance, there may appear to be nothing vague or arbitrary about the provisions of this statute. As to Petitioner, however, his alleged conduct subjected him to either Subsection (A)(1) or Subsection (A)(2) of the statute based upon the arbitrary discretion of law enforcement and the solicitor. The only difference between these two Subsections was the vastly different punishment.

The record in this case shows that at the time of the alleged crimes, Petitioner was employed by a local automotive plant where he consistently worked a fifty to seventy hours a week. App. 17, ll. 13-18; 196, ll. 23-25, 238. Petitioner’s wife, Ila M. Carter, step-mother to the Petitioner’s daughter, was unemployed and stayed home to care for the children while Petitioner worked long hours. App. 196, ll. 17-22; 199, ll. 19-21; 238.

In April 2000, Petitioner received a telephone call while he was at work from Ila Carter reporting that two of the children, including the deceased minor child (hereinafter referred to as the “minor child”), were injured while playing on the bunk beds. App. 292, l. 21 – 293, l. 10. Petitioner took both of the children to the hospital. The minor child suffered a head injury during that alleged fall from the bunk beds. App. 198, ll. 7-16. Petitioner would discover after the minor child’s death that his wife’s story that minor child hurt herself while playing on the bunk beds was false. App. 292, l. 21 – 293, l. 10.

On October 2000, a pediatric neurologist examined the minor child to determine the cause and prescribe treatment for some apparent “spells” she was experiencing since the April 2000 injury. The neurologist’s examination revealed signs of improvement since the initial visit five months earlier. App. 201, ll. 15-25.; Supp. App. 6.

Sometime around noon on October 14, 2000, Ila Carter telephoned Petitioner while he was at work several times and reported that the minor child was experiencing “spells” again. App. 238; 297, l. 17 – 298, l. 14; 299, l. 24 – 300, l. 5. After Ila Carter arrived at Petitioner’s place of work around 12:30 p.m., Petitioner rushed Ila Carter and their infant son home and then rushed the minor child to Greenville Memorial Hospital. App. 36, ll. 1-10; 238; Supp. App. 4.

Upon arriving at the hospital, the minor child became slightly unresponsive, but in the following days, her condition deteriorated and she died on October 17, 2000. Petitioner was arrested on October 25, 2000. App. 239.

The facts in the record establish that Petitioner did not directly commit the act which caused the minor’s child death. During the pre-trial hearings of Petitioner’s trial before he pled guilty, the State presented evidence that a head injury caused the minor child’s death. App. 146, ll. 15-17. The State was prepared to show that Ila Carter was the one who directly inflicted the blow to the minor child which caused her death. App. 202, ll. 2-4.

During Ila Carter’s trial, in which she was convicted of homicide by child abuse under Subsection (A)(1) of § 16-3-85 and received a life sentence without parole, the State presented evidence that the subdural hematoma that caused the minor child’s death occurred during the general time frame in which the minor child was admitted to the hospital. App.

287, l. 21 – 288, l.12; 330, l. 20 – 331, l. 2. At Ila Carter’s trial, the solicitor argued to the jury that Ila Carter was the person who “struck the fatal blow.” App. 304, l. 24 – 305, l. 1.

There was never any evidence that Petitioner inflicted the injury that caused the minor child’s death. App. 353, ll. 6-12. The State, however, argued that Petitioner was guilty under Subsection (A)(1) even though he did not inflict the injuries which caused the minor child’s death, and Petitioner’s plea counsel permitted him to plead guilty under Subsection (A)(1) which contained a significantly greater penalty than provided under Subsection (A)(2) for aiding and abetting.

The unconstitutionality of § 16-3-85 comes into play because Petitioner’s alleged exact same conduct subjected him to either Subsection of the statute at the arbitrary discretion of law enforcement and the solicitor even though the penalties under each subsection are vastly different.

Under § 16-3-85(B)(1), “child abuse or neglect” is defined as “an act or omission by any person which causes harm to the child’s physical health or welfare.” The definition of “harm” to a child’s health or welfare occurs when a person, among other things, “inflicts or allows to be inflicted upon the child physical injury, including injuries sustained as a result of excessive corporal punishment.” § 16-3-85(B)(2)(a).

Therefore, “child abuse or neglect” includes any act or omission by any person which causes harm to the child’s physical health or welfare by inflicting or allowing to be inflicted upon the child physical injury, including injuries sustained as a result of excessive corporal punishment.

Incorporating this definition of “child abuse and neglect” into Subsections (A)(1) and (A)(2), it is clear that the conduct of someone like Petitioner can be arbitrarily classified as falling under either Subsection and subject him to exceedingly different punishments.

Under Subsection (A)(2), a person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if he or she knowingly aids or abets another person to commit any act or omission which causes harm to the child’s physical health or welfare by inflicting or allowing to be inflicted upon the child physical injury, including injuries sustained as a result of excessive corporal punishment.

At pre-trial hearings, the State emphasized Petitioner’s alleged lying to the doctors about what happened to the minor child and letting his “daughter die because of not being diagnosed properly because of a false history.” App. 120, ll. 23-25. The State further emphasized Petitioner’s act in driving the minor child to Greenville Memorial Hospital instead of Anderson Memorial on the day of her fatal injury. App. 353, ll. 3-5; 354, l. 20 – 355, l. 1; 357, l. 19 - 358, l. 9. During Ila Carter’s trial, the solicitor argued to the jury that Petitioner was only guilty of “allowing the child to be neglected enough to stay with someone you know is abusing the child.” App. 306, ll. 17-20. These allegations were all part of the State’s argument that Petitioner was guilty of homicide by child abuse, and certainly these alleged acts fall under Subsection (A)(2) which provides for the lesser penalty.

However, under the provisions of the statute, the State maintains this very conduct which subjects Petitioner to the penalty provided for Subsection (A)(2) can also subject Petitioner to the much greater penalty for committing homicide by child abuse under (A)(1). Under Subsection (A)(1), a person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if he or she causes the death of a child . . . while committing any act or omission which causes harm to the

child's physical health or welfare by inflicting or allowing to be inflicted upon the child physical injury, including injuries sustained as a result of excessive corporal punishment."

Because "knowingly aiding or abetting" a person to commit child abuse is in itself an "act" which can cause "harm to a child's physical health or welfare" and thus can constitute "child abuse and neglect" under the statutory scheme provided under § 16-3-85, a person who therefore "knowingly aids and abets" another person to commit child abuse is guilty of committing "child abuse or neglect" himself under Subsection (A)(1) and is subject to the greater penalty of twenty years to life instead of the lesser penalty of ten to twenty years for "aiding and abetting."

When a person who commits an act that can be deemed to fall under either Subsection (A)(1) or Subsection (A)(2), for what crime the person is charged is subject to the "arbitrary, erratic, or discriminatory" discretion of law enforcement and the solicitor, violating the due process clause where the statute does not provide for ascertainable standards of guilt. See City of Chicago v. Morales, 527 U.S. 41, 56 (1999).

The sentencing provisions of § 16-3-85 also violate due process because they do not provide fair notice of what penalty will apply to a person's conduct when a person's conduct can subject them to different sections of the statute which in turn exposes the person to significantly different penalties. See Thomas v. Davis, 192 F.3d 445, 455 (4th Cir. 1999).

In addition to violating the due process clause, the statutory scheme set forth in § 16-3-85 also violates equal protection because when a person such as Petitioner commits an alleged act that could be punished under either of the two Subsections of §16-3-85, the person faces punishment for identical conduct in two very disparate ways.

In their treatise on criminal procedure, Professors LaFave, Israel, and King discussed statutory schemes where a defendant's identical conduct could subject him to two different punishments and have observed such a scheme is highly objectionable:

It is likely to be a consequence of legislative carelessness, and even if it is not, such a scheme serves no legitimate purpose. There is nothing at all rational about this kind of statutory scheme, as it provides for different penalties without any effort whatsoever to explain a basis for the difference. It cannot be explained in terms of giving assistance to the prosecutor. Where statutes are identical except for punishment, the prosecutor finds not the slightest shred of guidance. It confers discretion which is totally unfettered and which is totally unnecessary.

4 Wayne R. LaFave, Jerold H. Israel, and Nancy J. King, *Criminal Procedure* § 13.7(a), 95-97 (1999 and Supp. 2002).

Because “knowingly aiding and abetting” can be considered an act itself which constitutes “child abuse and neglect,” the elements under Subsection (A)(1) and Subsection (A)(2) for homicide by child abuse are virtually identical. The only difference between the two crimes set forth in Subsection (A)(1) and (A)(2) is the punishment.

The solicitor's decision on whether to prosecute one who “knowingly aided and abetted” under either Subsection (A)(1) or Subsection (A)(2) is completely arbitrary. The person prosecuted under Subsection (A)(1) faces up to life in prison while the person prosecuted under Subsection (A)(2) faces only a maximum term of twenty years. Such obvious unequal treatment of persons identically situated clearly violates the guarantee of equal protection.

Based upon the foregoing arguments, Petitioner therefore requests that his sentence for homicide by child abuse under § 16-3-85(A)(1) be vacated.

II. Petitioner’s plea counsel erred in failing to object to Petitioner’s guilty plea under S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-85(A)(1) where the Petitioner’s actions only amounted to “aiding and abetting” under Subsection (A)(2) of § 16-3-85 and Petitioner would have received a maximum sentence of twenty years instead of the thirty year sentence he received under Subsection (A)(1).

In the alternative to Argument I., Petitioner asserts that plea counsel erred in failing to object to Petitioner’s plea of guilty under Subsection (A)(1) of § 16-3-85 instead of Subsection (A)(2) which provided a maximum sentence of twenty years versus the sentence of thirty years received by Petitioner.

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner must satisfy the two-prong test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “First, a defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, [t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (internal citations omitted). “The second prong of the Strickland test requires a showing that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant to the extent that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. The defendant is required to overcome the presumption that counsel was effective in order to receive relief.” Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (internal citations omitted).

There is absolutely no question in this case that Petitioner did not inflict the fatal injury to the minor child. The State’s position has always been that Ila Carter inflicted the fatal injury and that Petitioner was only guilty by his acts of assisting the abuse, such as allowing the minor child to stay in an environment where she was continually abused by Ila Carter, driving the to minor child to a hospital farther away on the day of her fatal

injury, and allegedly giving the doctors a false medical history of the child which hindered the physicians' ability to diagnose the child on the day she suffered the fatal injury. See infra pp. 8-10.

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