STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

NOV - 4 2013

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY **S.C. Supreme Court**
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-213168

Derek S. Carter,..... Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WALT WHITMIRE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 100793

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Certiorari is not warranted where Petitioner lacks standing to mount a Due Process Clause challenge to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-85 (A)(1) because Petitioner's conduct clearly applied to the statute. Petitioner's Equal Protection Clause challenge to § 16-3-85 (A)(1) is without merit.

In denying Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove his conviction or sentence constituted violation a due process violations or an equal protection violation.

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)).

"The concept of vagueness or indefiniteness rests on the constitutional principle that procedural due process requires fair notice and proper standards for adjudication." State v. Michau, 355 S.C. 73, 76, 583 S.E.2d 756, 758 (2003) (quoting Curtis v. State,

345 S.C. 557, 571, 549 S.E.2d 591, 598 (2001)). “The constitutional standard for vagueness is the practical criterion of fair notice to those to whom the law applies.” Huber v. S.C. State Bd. of Physical Therapy Exam'rs, 316 S.C. 24, 26, 446 S.E.2d 433, 435 (1994). A law is unconstitutionally vague if it forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that a person of common intelligence must necessarily guess as to its meaning and differ as to its application. Toussaint v. State Bd. of Med. Exam'rs, 303 S.C. 316, 400 S.E.2d 488 (1991). “This Court has a limited scope of review in cases involving a constitutional challenge to a statute because all statutes are presumed constitutional and, if possible, will be construed to render them valid.” Curtis, 345 S.C. at 569, 549 S.E.2d at 597 (2001). “A possible constitutional construction must prevail over an unconstitutional interpretation.” Id., at 569-70, 549 S.E.2d at 597. “[O]ne to whose conduct the law clearly applies does not have standing to challenge it for vagueness as applied to the conduct of others.” In re Amir X.S., 371 S.C. 380, 391, 639 S.E.2d 144, 150 (2006) (citing Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc., 455 U.S. 489, 495, 102 S.Ct. 1186, 71 L.Ed.2d 362 (1982)).

Respondent submits the record clearly shows Petitioner’s conduct fell within the purview of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-85 (A)(1) that states, “[a] person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if the person causes the death of a child under the age of eleven while committing child abuse or neglect, and the death occurs under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life.” Under § 16-3-85(B)(1) “child abuse or neglect” is defined “as an act or omission by any person which causes harm to the child’s physical health or welfare.” § 16-3-85(B)(2)(a) further defines “harm to a child health occurs

where a person **inflicts** or **allows to be inflicted** upon the child physical injury.” (emphasis added). “In this state, indifference in the context of criminal statutes has been compared to the conscious act of disregarding a risk which a person's conduct has created, or a failure to exercise ordinary or due care.” State v. Jarrell, 350 S.C. 90, 99, 564 S.E.2d 362, 367 (Ct. App. 2002).

Petitioner’s monstrous conduct constituted the commission of “child abuse and neglect” under Subsection § 16-3-85(B)(1) because Subsection (B)(2)(a) narrowly provides for two scenarios to qualify an actor’s conduct as culpable for a child’s physical injury. Subsection (B)(2)(a) is the gatekeeper provision that subjects the Homicide by Child Abuse Statute only to an actor who either directly inflicts harm that causes physically injury to a child or allows a third party to inflict harm that causes injury to a child. The later provision, “allows to be inflicted,” functions within the body of the statute to prevent an inconsistent application of the law. To permit a third party to inflict physical injury upon a child intuitively requires an actor to possess (1) prior or contemporaneous knowledge of a third party inflicting physical harm to a child; and (2) the authority to “not allow” the harm. Thus an actor must have care, custody, or control of a child in order for his conduct to fall within the purview of the statute. See State v. Jarrell, 350 S.C. 90, 99, 564 S.E.2d 362, 367 (Ct. App. 2002) (“A parent has a specific and undeleagable duty to serve the best interests of her child and should make every effort not to knowingly place her child in harm's way.”).

Here, Petitioner maintained full legal custody of the victim as the lone surviving biological parent the victim. Petitioner exercised the discretion to not permit the victim to

visit her maternal grandparents. Petitioner exercised his custody and control over the victim in a manner that left her entirely vulnerable to the most heinous acts of abuse.

Petitioner disclosed instances where he idly watched Ila “slap” the victim, “throw and push her to the floor,” and choke the victim while simultaneously shaking her. (App.p.28, lines 20-1; p.29, line 13; p.29, line 16-7). Thus by his own admission, Under § 16-3-85(B)(1) his conduct clearly applied to the committing “child abuse or neglect” under § 16-3-85(B)(1). Petitioner’s allowed Ila to escalate the seriousness of the assaults. As a result, the victim was hospitalized in April 2000 when a head injury resulted in a subdural hematoma that is “traditionally not produced outside a fall from massive height, or automobile accidents.” (App.p.144, lines 12-5). After Ila accepted responsibility, Petitioner lied on her behalf to cover the abuse. (App.pp.143-4; p.199).

On the morning of October 14, 2000, another incident necessitated the victim’s hospitalization that resulted from another subdural. Even presuming Petitioner’s argument on its face that Ila was solely responsible for inflicting the death blow, Petitioner’s conduct applies to § 16-3-85 (A)(1) because he knowingly allowed Ila’s assaults to escalate and reach a point where death the victim’s death was probable, if not inevitable.² The Chief Justice summarized the HCA in the following manner that places Petitioner’s clearly places Petitioner’s conduct within the crosshairs of the statute:

the homicide by child abuse statute criminalizes the specific
infliction of abuse as well as the failure to protect a child

² Respondent notes Petitioner’s argument that, “[t]here was never any evidence inflicted the injury that caused the minor’s death” effectuated an improper burden shift. (PWC Page 10). Petitioner pled guilty and admitted his guilt under Subsection (A)(1). See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) Furthermore, Petitioner’s references made to pro se documents attached to filings in the lower court were not introduced at the lower court proceeding. These documents lack authentication and are at best incomplete. See App.pp.225-56; pp.273-320; see also Rule 227(f)(1), SCACR.

from abuse which results in the death of that child while exhibiting an extreme indifference to human life. In this way, the statute **incorporates more than just the act** that causes the death—it **criminalizes the course of conduct which results** in the death of a child.

State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 27, 664 S.E.2d 480, 485 (2008) (Toal, C.J. dissenting) (emphasis added). The trial judge echoed a similar sentiment in sentencing Petitioner and stated, “While the defendant, Petitioner, may not have been physically present nor had struck the final blow, defendant had already sentenced his own daughter to death through his unspeakable inhumane treatment of the victim.” (App.p.203, lines 20-4).

Respondent submits the record is ripe with horrific instances of Petitioner’s conduct that applies to § 16-3-85(A)(1)’s intent requirement. “Extreme indifference is in the nature of “a culpable mental state ... and therefore is akin to intent.” Jarrell, 350 S.C. at 98, 564 S.E.2d at 397 (citing State v. Vowell, 276 Ark. 258, 634 S.W.2d 118, 119 (1982)). Here, twenty to twenty-five separate injuries were discovered on the victim’s body. Counsel candidly told the trial judge that Petitioner grew more physically abusive to the victim as time passed. (App.pp.197-8). Physical injuries were discovered on the victim’s feet, vagina, and ears that were consistent with Petitioner’s admissions of physical abuse. (App.pp.38-9; pp.144-5). Twenty to twenty-five separate injuries were discovered on the victim’s body. (App.p.139). Petitioner attempted provided inconsistent statements to police. See State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 678 S.E.2d 690 (2009).

State v. Neuman, 384 S.C. 395, 403-04, 683 S.E.2d 268, 272-73 (2009), is instructive to the present case. The Appellant argued he had standing to argue the statute at issue was vague because he intended to utilize the correctional officers in a manner not

conventionally associated with the use of a hostage. Id. However, this Court rejected Neuman’s argument based upon his admissions conveyed the general conduct at issue. Here, the HCA clearly applied to Petitioner’s conduct, as established by his own admissions.

Next, Respondent submits Petitioner’s equal protection challenge is without merit. “The Equal Protection Clause provides that no State shall deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws. U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. A classification does not violate the Equal Protection Clause if (1) “similarly situated” members in a class are treated alike; (2) the classification rests on some reasonable basis; and (3) the classification bears a reasonable relation to a legitimate legislative purpose.” McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 52, 661 S.E.2d 354, 364 (2008). In McKnight v. State, this Court held persons prosecuted for criminal abortion are not similarly situated to person prosecuted under the HCA. Id. § 16-3-85 (A)(2) states, “that a person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if the person: knowingly aids and abets another person to commit child abuse or neglect, and the child abuse or neglect results in the death of a child under the age of eleven.” In State v. Smith, this Court announced,

We find the language of section 16-3-85 **unambiguously signals** the General Assembly’s intent to codify **two distinct crimes**—homicide by child abuse as **a principle offense** pursuant to section (A)(1) and homicide by aiding and abetting pursuant to section (A)(2), each with distinct elements and sentencing ranges.

State v. Smith, Op. No. 27328 (S.C. Sup.Ct. filed Oct. 30, 2013) (emphasis added). This Court in Smith further noted Subsection (A)(2) is not a lesser-included of Subsection

(A)(1). Smith, Op. No. 27328. The different elements required to prove causation and intent under Subsection (A)(1) prevent persons prosecuted under (A)(2) from arbitrary enhancement at the solicitor's whim. Most significantly, persons prosecuted under Subsection (A)(1) must have committed an act of child abuse as defined under Subsection (B)(1) and further qualified under Subsection (B)(2)(a). In comparison, Subsection (A)(2) strikingly is not qualified by any gatekeeper provisions. Furthermore, this Court in Smith held recent application of the common law principles do not uniformly apply in the context of HCA statute. Smith, Op. No. 27328.

Therefore, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms in not advising Petitioner to proceed to trial solely in order to preserve meritless constitutional arguments for appeal. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by trial counsel's performance.

II.

Certiorari is not warranted where the PCR judge correctly found Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove counsel was ineffective for allegedly misadvising him to plead guilty.

Evidence of probative value supports the PCR judge's finding that counsel's advice to Petitioner to plead guilty as indicted constituted reasonable performance.

"A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of the plea by showing that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial." Rolen v. State, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997).

First, counsel reasonably advised Petitioner that the State had a factual basis to charge and his convict him under § 16-3-85 (A)(1). Second, Petitioner presented novel constitutional challenges where there was no case law at the time of trial to guide counsel on the matter. See Thornes v. State, 310 S.C. 306, 426 S.E.2d 764 (1993) (Our courts have "never required an attorney to be clairvoyant or anticipate changes in the law which were not in existence at the time of trial.). Last, the PCR judge correctly found counsel exercised reasonable trial strategy in advising Petitioner on entering a guilty plea. Once counsel's motion sever Petitioner's charges and suppress Petitioner's statements were decided against him, counsel pursued a reasonable mitigation strategy. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992).

(“Accordingly, [the courts] must be wary of second-guessing trial counsel's tactics.”).

Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by trial counsel’s performance.

As Petitioner failed to meet this burden of proving ineffective assistance of trial counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) (“The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.”).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issues discussed above.